STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

Plaintiff-Appellee

-vs-

DARRELL JOHN WILDER

Defendant-Appellant

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_\_\_

Court of Appeals No. 327491

Lower Court No. 14-004600-01 FH

\_\_\_\_\_/

WAYNE COUNTY PROSECUTOR

Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellee

\_\_\_\_\_  
ADRIENNE N. YOUNG P 77803

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER OFFICE

BY: ADRIENNE N. YOUNG P 77803

VALERIE NEWMAN P 47291

Assistant Defenders

3300 Penobscot Building

645 Griswold

Detroit, Michigan 48226

(313) 256-9833

STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN

**STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF MR. WILDER'S PRIOR FELONY FIREARM CONVICTIONS IN A TRIAL WHERE HE WAS CHARGED WITH FELONY FIREARM?**

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

- II. DID THE JUDGE'S QUESTIONING PIERCE THE VEIL OF JUDICIAL IMPARTIALITY, DENYING MR. WILDER A FAIR TRIAL? WAS DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE IMPROPER JUDICIAL QUESTIONING DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE WHICH PREJUDICED MR. WILDER?**

Court of Appeals answers, "No".

Defendant-Appellant answers, "Yes".

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant Darrell John Wilder was acquitted of carrying a concealed weapon, MCL 750.227, and was convicted of felon in possession of a firearm (FIP), MCL 750.224f, and felony-firearm, MCL 750.227b following a jury trial in Wayne County Circuit Court, before the Honorable Qiana Lillard. Jury Trial Transcript 4/3/15 (T3), 10-11. On April 28, 2015, Judge Lillard sentenced Mr. Wilder to the statutorily-mandated 10 years in prison for felony-firearm (third offense) and five years of probation for FIP, to run concurrently. Mr. Wilder appealed by right and the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions. *People v Wilder*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, entered September 27, 2016 (Docket No. 327491).

The entirety of this case is not whether a gun was actually found in the trunk of a car but whether it was Mr. Wilder that placed that gun into the trunk upon seeing the police driving by. The police discovered the gun, which was never fingerprinted, only after driving by a vacant lot crowded with so many people, all males excepting the seller of the car, the police called for backup. Jury Trial Transcript 4/1/15 (T1), 233.

\*\*\*\*\*

In the afternoon of May 16, 2014, Mr. Wilder was at home with his wife and children. His wife was in the middle of braiding his hair when Mr. Wilder received a call from his brother, Carlos. T2, 69-70. Carlos asked Mr. Wilder to accompany him to potentially purchase a car from their cousin, Charmell Richardson. Charmell was selling her 2003 Monte Carlo from a vacant lot adjacent to 2175 Eastlawn in Detroit. Jury Trial Transcript 4/2/15 (T2), 7.



Hair only half-done, Mr. Wilder agreed to accompany his brother to look at his cousin's car. When Mr. Wilder left his house, he was not carrying a gun and the home he shared with his wife, children, and grandmother did not have weapons in it. T2, 75.

When Carlos and Mr. Wilder arrived at the vacant lot, they began to do some mechanical work on Charmell's car. It was in a wreck previously and the fender and bumper were in disrepair, and the car itself would not start. T2, 98-100. In addition to Mr. Wilder, Carlos, and Charmell, there were 3-5 more people in the vacant lot, possibly other interested buyers. T1, 202.

Shortly after Carlos and Mr. Wilder arrived, Officers Steven Fultz and David Shaw, who were on duty and patrolling the neighborhood, stopped their car and observed the group from about two houses away. T1, 188. Fultz testified that he "observed a large bulge on [Mr. Wilder's] right side. It was like a cylinder. I recognize that as a drum that attaches to a handgun." T1, 149.

Fultz said the "drum" he spotted was in Mr. Wilder's pocket or in his waistband. T1, 153, 160, 165. Fultz testified that he then saw Mr. Wilder "casual[ly] walk" to the trunk of Charmell's car and "pull[] a handgun up" and place it in the trunk of the car. T1, 152.

Charmell testified that she never gave her car keys to Mr. Wilder. T2, 22. Carlos testified that his brother was working on the car alongside him the entire time, T2, 107, and he never saw the trunk open "until the officer opened it." T2. 122.

Fultz and Shaw exited their vehicle and walked towards the vacant lot. Seeing the oncoming police officers, two or three men walked off the vacant lot. T2, 19 and 106. These men were not given chase and were never questioned. Officer Fultz asked Charmell for her car keys. She initially refused but after Officer Fultz retrieved a large crowbar from the police vehicle and threatened to "bash," T2, 12, or "bust up" the car, T2, 111, Charmell gave the officer her keys.

T1, 156, 223. Officer Fultz opened the trunk and saw a “handgun with a large drum attached to it.” T1, 157.

Only Mr. Wilder was arrested. The officers testified that Mr. Wilder was cooperative with police, complied with the request to raise his hands (T1, 154) and never threatened the officers. T1, 235.

The gun discovered that day was never tested for fingerprints. T2, 42-43. No in-car or dash-cam video was requested or reviewed by the detective assigned to the case. T2, 55. The Firearms Report filed by Shaw was incomplete and contained the wrong location of the incident, stating that it occurred “across the street from 2157 Eastlawn” rather than in the vacant lot next to the home. T1, 225, 227. Emphasizing these gaps in the investigation, defense counsel, who had already placed a *Batson* challenge on the record for the prosecutor’s dismissal of four African-American jurors (T1, 114), moved for a directed verdict. T2, 61-62. The motion was denied. T1, 62.

To further the theory that the gun could have belonged to another, defense counsel called Mr. Wilder’s wife of nine years, Tameachi Wilder (hereinafter “Mrs. Wilder”). She and defense counsel had the following exchange:

T2, 75. *Defense Counsel*: Okay. And when you see your husband leave the house did you see him with a gun?

*Witness*: No.

*Defense Counsel*: To your knowledge, do he own a gun?

*Witness*: No.

*Defense Counsel*:: Do you have any weapons in your house?

*Witness*: No.

On cross-examination, the prosecutor followed up with:

*Prosecutor:* Do you know of Mr. Wilder to carry weapons?

*Witness:* No.

*Prosecutor:* Do you know of him to carry guns?

*Witness:* No.

*Prosecutor:* You've been with him for nine years and you don't know of him to carry guns?

*Witness:* No.

T2, 81.

Only after asking these broad questions herself did the prosecutor then move to admit Mr. Wilder's two prior gun possession convictions, which the court allowed. T2, 82-83.

*Prosecutor:* Ms. Wilder, you were with him [(Mr. Wilder)] in 2007, correct?

*Witness:* Yes.

*Prosecutor:* And you know that he was convicted of carrying a weapon back then, correct?

*Witness:* Yes.

*Prosecutor:* So you knew that he carried weapons, right?

*Witness:* No. I didn't know but he was convicted.

\*\*\*

*Prosecutor:* Did he [(Mr. Wilder)] live in your home?

*Witness:* For what year?

*Prosecutor:* 2010?

*Witness:* 2010, yes.

*Prosecutor:* He was in your home?

*Witness:* Yes.

*Prosecutor:* But you guys weren't together?

*Witness:* No.

*Prosecutor:* And you know that he was convicted of having a weapon back in August of 2010 too, right?

*Witness:* Yes.

*Prosecutor:* Was that gun in your home?

*Witness:* No.

Following this testimony, defense counsel made a motion for a mistrial stating that “those questions that were asked were inadmissible...I do not believe that the questions I asked Ms. Wilder, the wife, with respect to whether she saw him leave out the house with a gun or whether he had—whether they had a gun in the house opened the door to bring in those prior convictions.” T2, 93. The court denied the motion for mistrial. T2, 94. The prosecutor emphasized the above testimony later in her closing, telling the jury that Mrs. Wilder “lied to you. She knew about those things.” T2, 153.

Throughout trial, the judge “asked needlessly excessive and irrelevant questions of the witnesses.” *Wilder*, unpub op at 6.

The jury deliberated for two days and the deliberations were loud and contentious. T3, 4-6. On the second day of deliberations, the jury sent a note that they could not reach a decision. T3, 4. Both parties agreed to an *Allen*<sup>1</sup> instruction, which the judge gave. T3, 6. About an hour after the instruction, the jury reached their verdict.

Mr. Wilder appealed by right, raising the issues presented herein. The court of appealed affirmed Mr. Wilder’s conviction. *Wilder*, unpub op at 11.

Other facts will be discussed herein as relevant to the issues presented.

---

<sup>1</sup> *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896)

**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE PROSECUTION TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE OF MR. WILDER'S PRIOR FELONY FIREARM CONVICTIONS IN A TRIAL WHERE HE WAS CHARGED WITH FELONY FIREARM.**

**Issue Preservation/Standard of Review:**

Trial counsel preserved this issue with a specific objection to the admission of the prior convictions and by moving for a mistrial. T2, 82, 93. The decision whether to admit evidence is within the trial court's discretion; this Court only reverses such decisions where there is an abuse of discretion. *People v Lukity*, 460 Mich 484, 488; 596 NW2d 607, 609-10 (1999). The “abuse of discretion” standard also applies to a trial court’s decision whether to grant a mistrial. *People v Alter*, 255 Mich App 194, 205; 659 NW2d 667 (2003).

**Argument:**

Mr. Wilder’s case came down to a credibility contest about whether Mr. Wilder possessed a gun. It was highly influential to the jury when the prosecutor brought in evidence of Mr. Wilder’s prior felony firearm convictions—the very same offense he faced in the present trial. The court erred by admitting this evidence against Mr. Wilder in and further erred by denying defense counsel’s subsequent motion for mistrial on these grounds.

The Court of Appeals concluded that, although this evidence was “reflective of a defendant’s character” it was admissible for the noncharacter purpose of impeaching Mrs. Wilder. *People v Wilder*, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, entered September 27, 2016 (Docket No. 327491) 4. To that end, the Court of Appeals cited MRE 611(c): “[a] witness may be cross-examined on any matter relevant to any issue in the case, including credibility.” *Id.* The credibility of a witness is “almost always relevant.” *Id.*, citing *People v Layher*, 464 Mich 756, 764-765; 631 NW2d 281(2001).

Here, *Mr. Wilder’s* prior criminal record was allowed in on *cross-examination of his wife*. These are important distinctions. Affirming Mr. Wilder’s convictions, the Court of Appeals relied on MRE

404(b). But MRE 404(b) provides for the admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or act as evidence **against the defendant:**

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, scheme, plan, or system in doing an act, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident when the same is material, whether such other crimes, wrongs, or acts are contemporaneous with, or prior or subsequent to the conduct at issue in the case.

Likewise, MRE 609<sup>2</sup> limits impeachment of a witness with prior criminal convictions:

(a) For the purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness, evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime shall not be admitted unless...

(1) the crime contained an element of dishonesty or false statement, or

(2) the crime contained an element of theft, and...

(A) the crime was punishable by imprisonment in excess of one year or death under the law under which the witness was convicted, and

(B) the court determines that the evidence has significant probative value on the issue of credibility .....

Michigan statutory law also limits the admission of evidence of a defendant's other crimes as evidence against the defendant. MCL 768.27 provides:

In any criminal case where the defendant's motive, intent, the absence of, mistake or accident on his part, or the defendant's scheme, plan or system in doing an act, is material, any like acts or other acts of the defendant which may tend to show his motive, intent, the absence of, mistake or accident on his part, or the defendant's scheme, plan or system in doing the act, in question, may be proved, whether they are contemporaneous with or prior or subsequent thereto; notwithstanding that such proof may show or tend to show the commission of another or prior or subsequent crime by the defendant.

---

<sup>2</sup> MRE 609 does not apply where "evidence of prior convictions is offered to rebut specific statements of the defendant who testifies at trial." *People v Taylor*, 422 Mich 407, 414; 373 NW2d 579 (1985). In the present case, Mr. Wilder did not testify and evidence of prior convictions were used to rebut his wife's cross-examination testimony.

In fact, the cases cited by the Court of Appeals involve a witness impeached with his or her *own* prior crimes. *People v Layher*, 464 Mich 756; 631 NW2d 281 (2001) (Witness' prior arrest for criminal sexual conduct and subsequent acquittal were allowed in as evidence of witness' potential bias during the investigation and at trial.); *People v Crawford*, 458 Mich 376; 562 NW2d 785 (1998) (This Court reversed defendant's convictions and remanded for new trial where defendant's prior drug convictions were "unfairly prejudicial" and "marginally probative."). Additionally, in the one case relied on by the Court of Appeals where the evidence was admissible, *Layher*, it was the witness' testimony *on direct examination* that contradicted the victim's and thus necessitated the introduction of the witness' priors. Here, the prosecutor wrongfully used, and the court permitted over objection, irrelevant character evidence to be placed before the jury. Nevertheless, should this Court find that a defendant's criminal history can be used to impeach a witness other than the defendant himself, the prosecution cannot strike first with evidence that is obviously character in nature.

In *People v Hammond*, 394 Mich 627; 232 NW2d 174 (1975), much like Mr. Wilder's own strategy, the defendant did not take the stand and called his wife as an alibi witness. In cross-examination and over defense counsel's objection, the prosecution asked questions to bring out evidence of defendant's poverty and unemployment. In closing, the prosecutor used defendant's unemployed status as evidence of motive for armed robbery. This Court found that a prosecutor's character examination must be kept within "reasonable bounds" and that the questioning of Mr. Hammond's wife exceeded those bounds.

Applying the above principles to the present case, Mr. Wilder's 2007 and 2010 felony-firearm convictions were plainly inadmissible. Defense witness Mrs. Wilder **never** testified on direct examination as to Mr. Wilder's general character for not carrying a weapon. Mrs. Wilder served only as a fact witness. She testified about Mr. Wilder's actions before he left the house on the day of his arrest, the clothing he wore, and his left-handedness, facts that were relevant responses to police testimony. T2, 72, 75 (responding to police testimony at T1, 204, 207, 221). Additionally, Mrs. Wilder merely testified that Mr.

Wilder did not carry a gun on the day in question “when he left the house” and that there were not weapons in the home she shared with Mr. Wilder. T2, 75. It was not until cross-examination that the prosecution inquired about Mr. Wilder’s character generally:

*Prosecutor:* Do you know of Mr. Wilder to carry weapons?

*Witness:* No.

*Prosecutor:* Do you know of him to carry guns?

*Witness:* No.

T2, 81.

The trial court seemed to acknowledge that it may have been the prosecution, and not the defense, that brought out evidence of defendant’s character:

*The Court:* ...At some point, I don’t remember if it was you, Ms. James, or you, Ms. Stanford, who asked if she ever seen the Defendant carry guns or ever knew him to carry guns but she said “no,” and once she says that the veracity of her testimony becomes [sic] in question...

T2, 95.

Under these circumstances, the jury heard improper character evidence improperly elicited by the prosecution on cross-examination. Although defense counsel objected and MRE 611(c) permits the judge to “limit cross-examination with respect to matters not testified to on direct examination,” the court failed to act.

This error likely affected the jury’s decisions on felony-firearm and felon-in-possession (the jury acquitted Mr. Wilder of carrying a concealed weapon) because the case came down to a credibility contest between defense and prosecution witnesses that made for intense, heated jury deliberations. T3, 4.

The court ultimately read an *Allen* instruction because the jurors initially thought they would be unable to reach a unanimous verdict. This credibility contest was unfairly manipulated by the prosecutor’s own questioning to get Mr. Wilder’s prior convictions— the exact same offense in question at trial— admitted to the jury and by the prosecutor’s later use of this testimony in her closing where she referred to



Mrs. Wilder as a liar for failing to be more forthcoming regarding Mr. Wilder's (inadmissible) propensity to carry a gun. T2, 153.

Where a court improperly admits evidence, a motion for mistrial should be granted for "an irregularity that is prejudicial to the rights of the defendant ... and impairs his ability to get a fair trial" *People v Alter*, 255 Mich App 194, 205; 659 NW2d 667 (2003) (citation omitted). Due process requires a new trial for Mr. Wilder. Const 1963, art 1, § 17; US Const, Am XIV.

Alternatively, if this court finds that defense counsel opened the door to prior offense evidence by putting Mrs. Wilder on the stand, then defense counsel's performance was deficient and her deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Wilder. To show that he was denied the effective assistance of counsel, Mr. Wilder must demonstrate that, considering all of the circumstances, his counsel's performance fell below the objective standard of reasonableness and so prejudiced Mr. Wilder that a reasonable probability exists that, but for counsel's conduct, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland v Washington*, 466 US 668; 104 S Ct 2052; 80 L Ed2d 674 (1984).

It was deficient performance to call a character witness to testify regarding Mr. Wilder's good behavior and decision-making with respect to weapons possession where trial counsel knew of Mr. Wilder's prior convictions. For the same reasons stated above, this deficient performance influenced the outcome of trial where Mr. Wilder's two prior convictions are identical to the offense for which he was charged. For these reasons, Mr. Wilder is alternatively entitled to a new trial on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel.

**II. THE JUDGE’S QUESTIONING PIERCED THE VEIL OF JUDICIAL IMPARTIALITY, DENYING MR. WILDER A FAIR TRIAL. DEFENSE COUNSEL’S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE IMPROPER JUDICIAL QUESTIONING WAS DEFICIENT PERFORMANCE WHICH PREJUDICED MR. WILDER.**

**Issue Preservation/Standard of Review:**

“The question whether judicial misconduct denied defendant a fair trial is a question of constitutional law that this Court reviews de novo.” *People v Stevens*, 498 Mich 162, 168; 869 NW2d 233 (2015). However, defense counsel did not object to the judge’s questioning of witnesses so this issue is not preserved on appeal. Because this issue was unpreserved by trial counsel and therefore must meet the standard for plain error. *People v Carines*, 460 Mich 750, 597 NW2d 130 (1999).

**Argument:**

A criminal defendant has the right to an impartial judge no matter what the evidence against the defendant may be. *Tumey v Ohio*, 273 US 510, 535; 47 SCt 437; 71 L Ed 749 (1927). The right to an impartial adjudicator, be it judge or jury, is a right so basic to a fair trial that its infraction can never be treated as harmless error. *Gray v Mississippi*, 481 US 648, 668; 107 SCt 2045; 95 LEd2d 622 (1987).

“Judicial misconduct is found where the judge's remarks clearly indicate a hostility to one of the parties, or an unwarranted prejudgment of the merits of the case, or an alignment on the part of the Court with one of the parties, or where the judge ... abandons his proper role and assumes the role of an advocate.” *United States v Blood*, 435 F3d 612, 629 (CA 6, 2006) (citations and quotation marks omitted).

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