STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs

Michigan Supreme Court No. 154814

DARRELL JOHN WILDER,
Defendant-Appellant.

Court of Appeals No. 327491
Circuit Court No. 14-004600

PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE'S ANSWER OPPOSING
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL

KYM WORTHY
Prosecuting Attorney
County of Wayne

JASON W. WILLIAMS (P51503)
Chief of Research, Training,
and Appeals
1441 St. Antoine, 11th Floor
Detroit, Michigan 48226
(313) 224-5794

**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE MICHIGAN SUPREME COURT**

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF MICHIGAN,
Plaintiff-Appellee,**

vs

Michigan Supreme Court No. 154814

**DARRELL JOHN WILDER,

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

- A. The trial court did not err in allowing the trial prosecutor to impeach Defendant's wife with evidence of Defendant's prior convictions.

Michigan Rule of Evidence (MRE) 611(c) allows a witness to be cross-examined on any matter relevant to any issue in the case, including matters of credibility; this is what the trial court allowed the prosecutor to do here.

On direct-examination of Defendant's wife, Tameachi Wilder, Defendant asked several pointed questions regarding Defendant's ownership of a gun and the presence of weapons in the house the two shared.⁷ On cross-examination, the prosecutor confirmed the length of time

⁵ *People v. Trakhtenberg*, 493 Mich. 38, 47 (2012)

⁶ *People v. Heft*, 299 Mich. App. 69, 80 (2012)

⁷ *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 75

Wilder had been married to Defendant – nine years.⁸ Using the witness’s direct-examination answers regarding Defendant’s firearm ownership as a foundation, the trial prosecutor asked Wilder if she knew Defendant to carry weapons or guns, both generally and during the nine years they had shared.⁹ To each of these questions, Wilder stated she had no such knowledge.¹⁰

The trial prosecutor then questioned the witness about whether Defendant had twice during the nine years of their marriage—once in 2007¹¹ and again in 2010¹²—been convicted of having or carrying a weapon. Wilder stated that she knew of the convictions, but did not know the explicit circumstances of those crimes.¹³

Simply because the matter at hand deals with the use of a prior conviction for impeachment purposes does not automatically implicate MRE 609. Defendant, at trial, suggested that the lack of dishonesty, theft, etc., invalidated the use of this testimony under 609.¹⁴ MRE 609, however, does not apply to this case.

In *People v Taylor*,¹⁵ the Supreme Court explained: “MRE 609 is not applicable when evidence of prior convictions is offered to rebut specific testimony rather than to attack credibility in general.” In *Taylor*, two men forced the victim into a car and drove him through the neighborhood. One of the men beat and choked the victim in the backseat before the car stopped. The victim was shot, and his money and jewelry stolen. Both men then fled on foot. Testifying in his own defense in his trial on felony murder and other charges, defendant claimed that he did not know of his codefendant’s intent to rob the victim before codefendant forced defendant at gunpoint to drive the car. Defendant claimed that he was hysterical and did not

⁸ *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 77

⁹ *Id.* at page 81

¹⁰ *Id.*

¹¹ *Id.* at page 85

¹² *Id.* at page 86

¹³ *Id.* at pages 85, 86

¹⁴ *Id.* at page 82

¹⁵ See *People v. Taylor*, 422 Mich. 407, 417 (1985)

understand what his codefendant intended to do with the gun to explain why he did not flee when codefendant was in the backseat with the victim. The trial court then permitted the prosecutor to impeach defendant with evidence of defendant's prior conviction of assault with intent to commit robbery while armed. The Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the evidence was relevant, reasoning that the evidence showed defendant's awareness of an armed robbery attempt in the past. The Court further determined that the prejudicial effect of the evidence did not substantially outweigh its probative value in discrediting defendant's claim of force participation in the crime.

Similarly, here, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence for purposes other than to attack defendant's credibility in general.¹⁶ The prosecutor used evidence of the witness' *knowledge of* defendant's convictions to impeach her testimony that she did not know Defendant to have carried weapons during their relationship.¹⁷ The evidence was relevant because it demonstrated Wilder was being untruthful – or at least not as forthcoming – in her testimony. A jury properly could deem her not credible based on that lack of truthfulness and discount her testimony that defendant did not have a gun on the day of the crime. Because Wilder's testimony was a key component of the defense, the danger of unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh the probative value of the evidence.

Defendant's chief criticism of the trial court's ruling appears to center around the issue of whether the prosecution or defendant "opened the door" to evidence on a purported collateral matter.¹⁸ This criticism is meritless.

¹⁶ For the same reason, the evidence does not implicate MRE 404(a) because it is not offered "for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion." MRE 404.

¹⁷ *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 82

¹⁸ *Id.*

First, though the court stated it did not remember who opened the door to the weapons ownership testimony¹⁹ it is clear that the door opened to this testimony when trial counsel asked Defendant's wife the questions about weapon ownership and possession on direct examination. Counsel's first question about a gun, at page 75 of the April 2nd transcript, was specifically bounded to the day of the crime. Counsel then asked:

Q To your knowledge, do (sic) he [Defendant] own a gun?

A No.

This question was not as explicitly time-bounded as the one which preceded it and even if one were to read the question in complete context, such a limiting chronological anchor still is not readily apparent. Thus, when the trial court explained that she believed the defense opened the door when – at the time it ruled on this matter – it stated:

THE COURT: Well I'm going to allow and that's what happens when you put witnesses on the stand and open the door. I mean she got on the stand, and you asked her on direct examination if she's ever seen with a gun, if there were any guns in the house, if he owned any weapons and if he had a gun that day, so that doesn't mean that once on cross-examination, and you talked about the length of their relationship. That doesn't mean that on cross-examination that she can't challenge that, challenge the voracity of him. (sic) In essence she becomes like a character witness and so I believe you've opened the door and I'm going to allow it. Your objection is overruled. Your objection is preserved for this record.²⁰

The trial court's finding, though it exhibited some waffling later on – as Defendant points-out – was solidly based on an accurate memory of the record. Though the prosecution would eventually ask the specific question of whether Wilder ever knew Defendant to carry guns, it was only after the Defense opened the door regarding Defendant's gun ownership. The trial court did not err.

¹⁹ *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 95

²⁰ *Id.* at page 83

Second, impeachment and issues of Wilder's credibility were decidedly not collateral matters since – as Defendant writes – this case became a credibility contest between police and civilian witnesses. Accordingly, the credibility of Defendant's wife became a key issue. Moreover, as the defense placed his weapon possession and ownership at issue via Defendant's wife, the impeachment on this specific issue could not be reasonably considered collateral.

The prosecutor sought to impeach this already inherently biased testimony of Defendant's wife by suggesting that she knew of Defendant's prior associations with weapons despite testifying – outside the chronological scope of the date of the crime – that Defendant did not own a gun or possess weapons in the home. Though the trial court did not clearly articulate a MRE 403 analysis²¹ on the record, there is no indication that this impeachment evidence confused the issues, misled the jury, or did anything to unfairly prejudice Defendant via improper propensity evidence. Though the jury was not instructed on this issue, the trial prosecutor used the impeachment evidence for the reasons she first articulated:

You also heard from Mr. Wilder's wife and Mr. Wilder's wife testified that she did not know her husband to carry a firearm. She testified however that she's been with him for 16 years and that she had been married to him for nine years, and she testified that she was just not familiar with that. Why would she say that? She would say that just for the same reason that Carlos Wilder would come in here and say that the police searched that vehicle and that other person were handcuffed. They say that to help or try to protect Darrell Wilder. We know, based on the question that I asked Mrs. Wilder, that the defendant had had some contact with weapons in the past and she knew about it. She lied to you. She knew about those things.²²

The evidence came in and it was used for the impeachment purpose which the prosecutor intended. The prosecutor did not argue improper propensity purposes with this evidence, nor did she exceed the proper use of this testimony authorized by the court.

²¹ See *People v. Blackston*, 481 Mich. 451, 461 (2008)

²² *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 153

In light of this, Defendant's chief criticisms are entirely without merit and the trial court's decision to admit this evidence was neither outside the range of principled outcomes, nor erroneous.

- B. The trial court did not err in denying Defendant's Motion for Mistrial because of its decision to allow the prosecutor to impeach Defendant's wife with evidence of Defendant's prior convictions.

Here, Defendant requested a mistrial, asserting that the impeachment evidence was unfairly prejudicial and irrelevant.²³ Counsel, addressing the court's prior rationale, indicated that her narrowly tailored questions failed to open the door as the court suggested.²⁴ The court "stood by" its analysis and concluded that the defense did, in fact, open the door to this testimony.²⁵ As the People have demonstrated in the foregoing argument, the court's conclusion was based on the court's accurate recollection of the record. Defendant opened the door to this testimony and Defendant's wife was properly presented with this impeachment evidence. The trial court's decision was not outside the range of principled outcomes and, accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying Defendant's mistrial motion.

- C. Trial counsel was not ineffective for calling Defendant's wife as a witness and "opening the door" to this impeachment testimony.

Though not presented in the statement of facts as an issue to be determined by this Court, Defendant asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for opening the door to this testimony.²⁶ Counsel's decision to present the Defendant's wife, as a witness, an objectively reasonable one.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, "a defendant must show that (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) but for counsel's

²³ *People v. Darrell Wilder*, Jury Trial Transcript – April 2, 2015, page 93

²⁴ *Id.* at page 94

²⁵ *Id.* at pages 94-95

²⁶ Defendant's Brief on Appeal, pages 12-13

deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different.”²⁷

Effective assistance of counsel is presumed, and the defendant bears a heavy burden in proving otherwise.²⁸ “Decisions regarding whether to call or question witnesses are presumed to be matters of trial strategy.”²⁹ Counsel’s strategic judgments are afforded deference;³⁰ “[t]his Court will not substitute its judgment for that of counsel regarding matters of trial strategy, nor will it assess counsel’s competence with the benefit of hindsight.”³¹ Counsel is not ineffective simply because his strategy was unsuccessful.³²

Calling Defendant’s wife as a witness was an objectively reasonably strategic move. This case was a credibility contest between Defense and Prosecution witnesses and claiming that the police were bullies who exaggerated testimony and were unworthy of belief was only part of the defense theory. To add weight to the strategy, counsel needed Wilder—in conjunction with defense witness Carlos Wilder and prosecution witness Charmell Richardson—to provide an uninterrupted timeline of events in which Defendant was unarmed. Carlos Wilder could testify that Defendant was not armed when he got in the truck and they travelled to the crime scene. Richardson could testify that Defendant had no gun as he helped Carlos around her car. Only Wilder, however, could testify that Defendant did not have a weapon when he left their home. As this testimony was vital to the defense theory and relevant to the facts at issue, Wilder’s testimony was required and calling her was objectively reasonable.

²⁷ *People v. Trakhtenberg*, 493 Mich. 38, 51 (2012)

²⁸ *People v. Vaughn*, 491 Mich. 642, 670 (2012)

²⁹ *People v. Russell*, 297 Mich. App. 707, 716 (2012)

³⁰ *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521–522, 528 (2003)

³¹ *People v. Rocky*, 237 Mich. App. 74, 76–77 (1999)

³² *People v. Heft*, 299 Mich. App. 69, 84 (2012)

Moreover, counsel undoubtedly knew the potential danger of calling Defendant's wife, with her knowledge of Defendant's prior convictions, and weighed this against the known information she could bring regarding Defendant's disarmed posture the day of the crime. Given counsel's narrowly tailored questions, and the relatively short period of time she spent on the subject of Defendant's possession of firearms, it is clear that counsel sought to make her point as briefly as possible. There was, however, no way for counsel to know (1) what the prosecutor would do with the testimony or (2) how the court would rule if the prosecutor wished to turn Wilder's testimony against Defendant's case. Counsel cannot have been ineffective, here, for failing to be clairvoyant enough to foretell the actions of the People and the Court.

Counsel's representation was objectively reasonable and Defendant has failed to show otherwise. Accordingly, Defendant has not surmounted his burden to surmount the presumption of effective representation and he is not entitled to relief.

II.

The veil of judicial impartiality is not pierced unless the trial court's comments or conduct are of such a nature as to unduly influence the jury and deprive a defendant of his right to a fair trial. Here, the trial court's questions served to clarify and probe underdeveloped facts, and the court instructed the jury to disregard its perception of the court's opinions. The trial court's questions did not deprive Defendant of his right to a fair trial or provide a foundation for ineffective assistance of counsel.

Standard of Review

Defendant did not object to the trial court's questioning either during the court's interrogation or at the next available opportunity when the jury was not present.³³ This issue is unpreserved and review is limited to the plain error standard of review.³⁴ Similarly unpreserved is Defendant's ineffective assistance of counsel argument; Defendant failed to move for a new trial or an evidentiary hearing on this issue in the trial court.³⁵ Furthermore, this Court's review for ineffective assistance of counsel is limited to mistakes of fact and law. Whether counsel was effective raises question of facts and law which are reviewed for clear error and *de novo* respectively.³⁶

Discussion

First, Defendant claims the trial court erred in questioning all of the witnesses.³⁷ Defendant's argument is without merit as the court's questions were aimed at either probing insufficiently developed testimony – in search of substantive proof – or clarifying confusing issues. Moreover, error, if any, was sufficiently firewalled as the jury was repeatedly instructed on disregarding the court's comments or its perception of the court's opinions.

³³ See MRE 614(c)

³⁴ *People v. Carines*, 460 Mich. 750, 763 (1999)

³⁵ *Heft*, 299 Mich. App. at 80

³⁶ *Id.*

³⁷ Defendant's Brief on Appeal, page 16

Second, Defendant claims that trial counsel should have objected to the court's questions. This claim is similarly without merit because the court's questions were appropriate and, in some cases, even helped Defendant. Since the questions were appropriate, objecting to them would have been futile. Accordingly, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to object to that which is unobjectionable.

A. The trial court's interrogation was not plain error.

Defendant argues that the trial court's questions to all of the witnesses pierced the veil of impartiality and denied him a fair trial. Though the court did examine all six witnesses – both prosecution and defense – Defendant only takes issue with the questions posed to the four prosecution witnesses. Defendant is not entitled to relief, here, as none of the questions the court asked deprived Defendant of a fair trial.

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